CARNITINE

Peggy R. Borum

Department of Biochemistry, Division of Nutrition, Vanderbilt School of Medicine, Nashville, Tennessee 37232

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	233
CARNITINE BIOSYNTHESIS AND TRANSPORT INTO TISSUES	235
Carnitine Biosynthetic Pathway	235
Regulation of Biosynthetic Pathway	236
Transport of Carnitine into Tissues	237
Regulation of Tissue Carnitine Concentrations	239
CARNITINE IN NORMAL METABOLISM	242
Accepted Functions of Carnitine	242
Suspected Functions of Carnitine	242
CARNITINE IN ABNORMAL METABOLISM	244
Carnitine in Muscle Disease	244
Carnitine in Cardiac Disease	244
Carnitine in Liver Disease	246
Carnitine in Kidney Disease	247
Carnitine in Diabetes	248
CARNITINE THE NUTRIENT	248
Carnitine in the Infant Diet	248
Carnitine in the Typical American Diet	249
Carnitine in the Vegetarian Diet	249
Carnitine in Defined	249
Carnitine in Total Parenteral Nutrition	250
CARNITINE IN THE FUTURE	250
Carnitine in Nutrition of the Normal Individual	250
Carnitine in Treatment of Patients	250
SUMMARY	250

INTRODUCTION

Carnitine is absolutely required for the transport of long chain fatty acids into the mitochondrial matrix. Since all the enzymes for β -oxidation are located within the mitochondrial matrix, tissues must contain adequate concentrations

of carnitine or β -oxidation of long chain fatty acids will be stymied and cellular energy metabolism will be severely impaired. This critical metabolic function of carnitine was not recognized for more than 50 years after the discovery of carnitine in animal tissue. The first 50 years of carnitine investigations were discussed in a review published in 1957 (92). The proceedings of a symposium convened in 1964 to discuss research on carnitine and its relationship to lipid metabolism have been published (242).

Carnitine nutriture received little attention until 1973 (66 years after the discovery of carnitine), when the first carnitine deficient patient was described (79). Nutritionists had always assumed that an individual would either synthesize adequate amounts of carnitine, ingest adequate amounts of dietary carnitine, or meet carnitine needs from both sources. Carnitine was never considered a possible essential nutrient for any segment of the healthy population or for diseased individuals. Suddenly, individuals were described who required an exogenous source of carnitine to maintain normal energy metabolism. A series of three excellent papers by M. E. Mitchell reviewed the increased interest in carnitine metabolism in the early 1970s and identified many of the questions concerning carnitine metabolism that remained unanswered (161, 162, 163). Fraenkel noted that a computer search of the carnitine literature since 1970 yielded about 600 titles, none of which seemed to deal with nutritional requirements (91).

Human carnitine deficiency was at first thought to be a rare pathophysiological condition. Clinical investigations of the last decade have clearly demonstrated that carnitine deficiency occurs both in classical carnitine deficiencies and in a number of other commonly occurring disease entities. These clinical reports have been the impetus to the recent near-logarithmic growth of basic and clinical research investigations designed to answer questions concerning carnitine metabolism, carnitine nutriture, and anomalies of carnitine metabolism that result in clinical symptoms.

The introduction of the radioisotope method of Cederblad & Lindstedt (60) improved the accuracy and precision of the assay methods used in carnitine concentration determinations and provided another important impetus to carnitine investigations. Modifications and improvements of this method have been published (156, 176, 181), but the basic procedure remains the same. Older spectrophotometric methods (152) and a new gas chromatographic method (140) have been used, but the radioisotope methods are preferred for most investigations.

The transferase and translocase enzymes that use carnitine as a substrate are important components in energy metabolism. These topics have been reviewed (14, 93, 113, 114, 122, 177, 178, 187) and are not discussed extensively here.

The metabolic capacity to form acylcarnitine in response to appropriate stimuli is of great importance. However, the acylcarnitine:carnitine ratio in hepatic tissue reflects the metabolic state of the liver rather than the carnitine pool causing changes in hepatic metabolism (36). A discussion of the metabolic regulatory processes controlling the acylcamitine:carnitine ratio in any physiological state is beyond the scope of this review, which focuses on regulatory processes controlling total carnitine concentrations. The term carnitine deficiency should never be used to describe a decrease in free carnitine concentrations when there may be a corresponding increase in acylcarnitine concentrations [See Broquist & Borum, 41]. The term "carnitine deficiency" is applicable only when the number of carnitine molecules (as measured by total carnitine concentrations) is too low to maintain normal metabolism.

This review focuses on the metabolic and nutritional factors controlling the total carnitine concentrations, the functions of carnitine in metabolism, and the abnormalities of carnitine metabolism that result in clinical symptoms.

CARNITINE BIOSYNTHESIS AND TRANSPORT INTO TISSUES

Carnitine Biosynthetic Pathway

Carnitine is synthesized in the body from two essential amino acids, lysine and methionine. S-adenosylmethionine was recognized as the donor of the three methyl groups on the nitrogen of carnitine, but lysine was not recognized as the source of the nitrogen and carbon chain until the early 1970s (40, 41, 72, 73, 115, 217). The first step of carnitine biosynthesis in *Neurospora crassa* is the stepwise methylation of free lysine by S-adenosylmethionine: ϵ -N-L-lysine methyltransferase that has been purified to homogeneity (31, 191). However, this enzyme has not been found in mammalian systems. Protein-bound trimethyllysine appears to be an excellent precursor for carnitine in mammalian systems (137). Desialylated 6-N-[Me¹⁴C]trimethyllysine glycoproteins were cleared from the blood by rat liver and rapidly hydrolyzed within hepatic lysosomes. Within 3 hr, 34.6% of the trimethyllysine in the administered protein was converted into carnitine. An isolated perfused rat liver converted 30% of the added peptide-bound trimethyllysine into carnitine in 90 min of perfusion. Partially methylated protein-bound lysines were not precursors for carnitine. No radioactive carnitine was detected in a rat carcass 22 hr after injection of 6-N-[Me¹⁴C]-monomethyl and dimethyllysine labeled asialofetuin (137).

The biosynthetic steps between trimethyllysine and γ -butyrobetaine have been elucidated recently (34, 110, 117). The enzyme catalyzing the last step in the carnitine biosynthetic pathway was the first enzyme of the pathway to be identified and characterized (142, 143, 144). The enzyme, γ -butyrobetaine

hydroxylase, hydroxylates γ -butyrobetaine to form carnitine and plays an important role in regulation of the pathway (see below). A recently published review discusses the carnitine biosynthetic pathway in detail (41).

Regulation of Biosynthetic Pathway

Although a multitude of questions concerning the regulation of carnitine biosynthesis remain to be answered, we know that carnitine biosynthesis is regulated by the diet, age, and hormonal status of the animal. Two essential amino acids (lysine and methionine), three vitamins (ascorbate, niacin, and vitamin B₆), and a metal ion (reduced iron) are required for the biosynthesis of carnitine (41). A diet limited in lysine led to reduced carnitine concentrations in plasma, heart, skeletal muscle, cardiac muscle, and epididymis—presumably owing to impaired carnitine biosynthesis (30, 218). Scorbutic young male guinea pigs had 50% less carnitine in heart and skeletal muscle than control animals but the same liver, kidney, and plasma carnitine concentrations (170). In vivo hydroxylation of trimethyllysine was decreased in scorbutic animals, and the enzyme activity was restored by addition of ascorbic acid either in advance or at the time the labeled substrate was injected (170). When guinea pigs were fed a low ascorbic acid diet, muscle carnitine concentrations were reduced even before the emergence of the symptons customarily regarded as characteristic of hypovitaminosis C (116). Perhaps muscle carnitine deficiency could account for the lassitude and fatigue reported to precede the emergence of frank scurvy in man. Guinea pigs supplemented with dietary carnitine survived longer on an ascorbic acid-free regime than unsupplemented animals (126). This "sparing" effect of carnitine supports a role for ascorbic acid in the conversion of lysine and methionine to carnitine. In the presence of 1-amino-Dproline, a vitamin B₆ antagonist, the total production of y-butyrobetaine, carnitine, and acetylcarnitine from protein-bound trimethyllysine was depressed by as much as 60-80% in perfused rat liver. The decreased synthesis of carnitine was accompanied by accumulation of an intermediate in the carnitine biosynthetic pathway (3-OH-6-N-trimethyllysine). The effects of 1-amino-Dproline were almost completely reversed by inclusion of pyridoxine in the perfusing medium (77).

Animals of all ages synthesize γ -butyrobetaine, but the activity of γ -butyrobetaine hydroxylase is age dependent. The ability of the rat liver to synthesize carnitine from γ -butyrobetaine increased from low levels in the fetus to adult values on the eighth day after birth (99). In three human infants, the γ -butyrobetaine hydroxylase activity was 12% of the normal adult mean. By 2.5 years, the activity was 30% of the adult mean, and by 15 years the level was within the standard deviation of the adult mean (189). Glucagon and insulin activity control intracellular protein catabolism that takes place within hepatic lysosomes. One important metabolic fate of these liposomal digestive products

is the conversion of released trimethyllysine to carnitine (2). L-thyroxine treatment (6 mg/kg body weight for 10 days) nearly doubled γ -butyrobetaine hydroxylase activity (179).

An important regulatory mechanism controlling carnitine biosynthesis is the tissue distribution of the camitine biosynthetic enzymes. Trimethyllysine is converted to y-butyrobetaine in rat liver, kidney, skeletal muscle, cardiac muscle, testis, and epididymis. However, only rat liver (and perhaps rat testis) can convert y-butyrobetaine to carnitine (21, 53, 108, 219). In the rat the isolated small intestine absorbed trimethyllysine well but probably plays a minor role in metabolizing physiological quantities of this compound in the whole animal (246). The initial conversion in the rat of trimethyllysine to y-butyrobetaine occurred predominantly in kidney (47, 192). Human liver, brain, kidney, heart, and skeletal muscle converted trimethyllysine to ybutyrobetaine, but only human liver, kidney, and brain converted ybutyrobetaine to carnitine (190, 193). Crude extracts from kidneys of cat, hamster, and rabbit had levels of γ -butyrobetaine hydroxylase activity equal to or exceeding that in liver. Crude extracts from kidneys of dog, guinea pig, and mouse exhibited little or no capacity to hydroxylate y-butyrobetaine (81). There has been one report of y-butyrobetaine hydroxlyase activity in ovine muscle (83), but two other laboratories have been unable to detect any activity in ovine muscle (57, 80). Thus the liver of the rat and the liver and kidney of the human are the major sites of carnitine production.

Transport of Carnitine into Tissues

Since tissues such as cardiac muscle and skeletal muscle depend upon fatty acid oxidation as a major source of energy but cannot synthesize carnitine, transport of carnitine from its site of synthesis to its site of action is of critical importance to cellular energy metabolism.

A series of elegant studies of carnitine transport into Giraidi human heart cells (an established cell line) have yielded much valuable information. The uptake of carnitine was saturable and was three- to tenfold higher in heart cells than in fibroblasts. γ -Butyrobetaine was taken up to the same extent as carnitine (23). Compounds structurally related to carnitine that contained the trimethylamino group and a carboxylic group reduced carnitine uptake. L-carnitine had a greater affinity for binding to the transport mechanism than D-carnitine (166). Increasing the concentration of L-carnitine from 2–100 μ mol/liter in the growth medium of the heart cell line increased the rate of uptake by 50%. The increased rate of uptake was postulated to be the result of an increased number of carriers on the surface of the cell as judged by increased velocity of uptake but unchanged apparent K_D . This effect of L-carnitine could be inhibited by cycloheximide, indicating dependence on protein synthesis (167). Prednisolone (10⁻⁸–10⁻⁵mol/liter) in the growth medium also stimulated

carnitine uptake. The effects of prednisolone and carnitine were additive in increasing the number of carriers and in increasing carnitine uptake (164). Diphtheria toxin in the growth medium reduced the rate of uptake of carnitine. The decreased rate of uptake was postulated to be the result of inhibition of the synthesis of carnitine carriers as judged by a decreased velocity of uptake but unchanged apparent K_D (165). N-ethylmaleimide, 5,5-dithiobis-(2-nitrobenzoic acid), parachloromercuribenzoate, and cystamine all reduced uptake of L-carnitine, indicating the importance of sulfhydryl groups in the uptake process (132).

A cardiac carnitine binding protein has been isolated from rat hearts that may serve as the carrier for the transport of carnitine across the heart cell membrane (44). The carriers identified on the surface of the heart cell line and the isolated cardiac carnitine binding protein have the following characteristics in common: (a) protein associated with the plasma membrane, (b) specific and saturable binding of carnitine, (c) less effective competition for binding by D-carnitine than L-carnitine, (d) competition of binding by structural analogs containing a trimethylamino group and a carboxyl group, and (e) involvement of a critical sulfhydryl group in the binding.

Carnitine transport has been demonstrated in working swine hearts and isolated adult rat heart myocytes (3, 141). L-carnitine was taken up by a carrier-mediated active transport system in rat extensor digitorum longus muscle (188). The transport mechanism of the soleus muscle had a greater affinity for L-carnitine than the extensor digitorum longus muscle, which may explain the difference in carnitine concentrations in red and white muscles in the intact animal (239). Carnitine binding protein for a skeletal muscle has been identified (unpublished results). Data from experiments with isolated rat liver cells indicated the existence of a common carrier in the plasma membrane that mediated uphill transport of both carnitine and y-butyrobetaine. The liver carrier had a higher affinity for y-butyrobetaine than for carnitine, which is consistent with the role of liver hydroxylating γ -butyrobetaine produced by other tissues (70). A liver carnitine binding protein has been identified (unpublished results). Glucagon slightly stimulated carnitine transport into the liver cells (69). Rat kidney cortex slices had a high-affinity component and a low-affinity component for carnitine transport. Uptake of L-carnitine in the kidney was inhibited by D-carnitine, y-butyrobetaine, and acetylcarnitine (119, 120). At a low concentration, carnitine was absorbed by rat small intestine by a stereospecific sodium dependent active process. At higher carnitine concentrations such as those obtained after a large therapeutic dose, the small intestine absorbed carnitine by passive diffusion (203). Rat brain slices possessed a relatively low affinity and high capacity active transport system for carnitine. Unlike that in other tissues, carnitine transport in brain was strongly inhibited by γ -aminobutyric acid. The data indicated that carnitine and γ -aminobutyric acid interact at a common carrier site. The authors suggested that carnitine may modulate γ -aminobutyric acid transport (118). Both spermatozoa and epididymal cells had a carnitine uptake mechanism. The epididymal system was especially active in the distal caput and corpus segment (125). At carnitine concentrations normally present in the plasma, the uptake of carnitine by epididymal cells from normal rats was ten times greater than that of cells from castrated rats. Uptake by epididymal cells from normal rats was a saturable process, whereas the uptake by cells from castrated rats was a nonsaturable process. The authors postulate that castration may result in a loss from the cell membrane of a carrier molecule specific for carnitine (124). An epididymal carnitine-binding protein has been identified (unpublished results).

Regulation of Tissue Carnitine Concentrations

The carnitine concentration of a tissue at one particular time is the summation of several metabolic processes. Dietary carnitine, synthesis of carnitine, transport of carnitine into the tissue, transport of carnitine out of the tissue, carnitine degradation, and carnitine excretion may all affect tissue carnitine concentrations.

A poor nutritional status often leads to a poor carnitine status. Malnourished children had lower plasma-carnitine concentrations than healthy controls and showed inprovement with dietary treatment for the malnutrition (130). Patients with schistosomiasis, who also showed signs of malnutrition and vitamin deficiency, had subnormal levels of serum carnitine. After nutritional repletion, a significant increase was observed in the carnitine levels of most patients (159). Plasma and urinary carnitine levels were higher in Thai adults living in Bangkok city than those living in Ubol villages. Nutritional status in Ubol adults was inadequate, as evidenced by decreased urinary creatinine excretion, serum albumin, and hematocrit levels. Rice, which is limiting in carnitine, was the main protein and energy source consumed by Ubol adults and may have contributed to their inadequate carnitine status (220). Dietary choline deficiency in rats caused a decrease in heart and liver carnitine concentrations that increased upon choline administration (46, 71). As discussed above, a lysine deficient diet reduced tissue carnitine concentrations. A lysine deficient diet increased the triglyceride content of liver, heart, and muscle and resulted in impaired oxidation of $[1^{-14}C]$ palmitate by the 600 \times g supernatant of rat heart homogenates. Supplementation of the lysine deficient diet with carnitine increased the tissue carnitine concentrations and restored fatty acid oxidation to normal (131, 221).

Since plasma and urine are readily accessible, they are frequently used for assessment of carnitine status even though plasma carnitine concentrations have not always correlated with carnitine concentrations of tissues such as muscle (62). The plasma, heart, and skeletal muscle carnitine concentrations

increased in normal rats during the first day of life (27). Weanling rats showed no differences in plasma, liver, heart, or skeletal muscle carnitine concentrations. Plasma, heart, and muscle concentrations were higher in adult male rats than in adult females. However, the liver carnitine concentration was higher in adult female than in adult male rats. Epididymal carnitine concentration of rats increased rapidly from 50-70 days of age, and the differences in carnitine concentrations between the sexes also became apparent during this time (27). Normal adult male rats had a plasma carnitine concentration of 54.5 ± 1.7 nmol/ml (±SEM) and normal adult female rats had a plasma carnitine concentration of 23.4 \pm 0.8 nmol/ml (\pm SEM). Sham castration had no effect, but castration increased the female level to 37 nmol/ml and decreased the male level to 37 nmol/ml. Male and female rats injected with androgens had plasma carnitine concentrations similar to that of the normal male. Male and female rats injected with estrogens had plasma carnitine concentrations similar to that of the normal female (28). Newborn infants also had lower plasma, heart, and skeletal muscle carnitine concentrations than adults (9). Adult levels were reached by 6 months of age (10). The plasma carnitine concentration of normal adult males was higher than in normal adult females (54). Pregnant women had lower plasma carnitine concentrations than nonpregnant women (6, 201).

Daily urinary carnitine excretion increased with age from 3.5–18 years in normal children and adolescents (78). Adult men excreted more urinary carnitine than adult women (59, 147), but adult male rats excreted less carnitine than adult female rats (28, 48). It has been reported that carnitine excretion varied widely in women during the menstrual cycle but reached a maximum at the time of ovulation (147). Fasting increased urinary carnitine excretion (147, 213). Although there have been reports of carnitine being degraded to methylcholine (129, 202), other workers have found no evidence of carnitine being converted into other compounds (39, 61, 245).

The epididymis had the highest carnitine concentration found in any tissue in the adult animal (38, 49, 153). Examination of the effects of castration and testosterone replacement showed the accumulation of carnitine in the epididymis to be under androgen control (24, 38). When rats were injected intramuscularly with [³H]γ-butyrobetaine, castration had no effect on conversion of γ-butyrobetaine to carnitine or on carnitine uptake by the heart. However, castration reduced carnitine accumulation in the cauda epididymis to 6% of control values, and unilateral orchiectomy reduced carnitine accumulation by the cauda epididymis to 40% of that occurring on the nonoperated side (24). The carnitine content of cells from tubules of rabbit proximal corpus epididymis cultured 24 hr with dehydrotestosterone was greater than that in cells from tubules cultured without androgen (51). Caput spermatozoa incubated in [methyl-¹⁴C]carnitine took up radioactivity, but caudal cells did not (50). Carnitine was present in testicular fluid of rats in concentrations of less than 1

mM, but the concentrations increased in the luminal fluid to 53 mM in the cauda epididymis. A high concentration of carnitine was found in the luminal fluid from the distal caput epididymis at approximately the point where spermatozoa become motile (112). The function of carnitine in the epididymis is unclear, but it has been proposed to function in the maturation process of spermatozoa. An increase in motility of ejaculated human spermatozoa was observed after the addition of acetylcarnitine (216). The acetylation state of carnitine greatly increased in monkey and bovine spermatozoa incubated in vitro with natural substrates, indicating that acetylation of carnitine may play an important role in normal spermatozoan metabolism. It has been postulated that the carnitine:carnitine acetyltransferase system buffers against rapid changes in acetyl coenzyme A concentrations (43, 52). Patients with normal seminal vesicle and epididymal function had seminal fluid carnitine concentrations of 250 µg/ml or above. Patients with defective epididymis but functional seminal vesicle, or defective seminal vesicle but functional epididymis, had carnitine concentrations of 100-200 µg/ml. Extremely low carnitine concentrations (less than 100 µg/ml) were found in the seminal fluid of patients when both the epididymis and seminal vesicle were defective (139). Human seminal carnitine concentrations have been proposed to be of diagnostic value for epididymal function (96, 240).

Human carnitine concentrations vary with different disease states (25). During the first ten days after injury, the plasma carnitine concentrations of burn patients were slightly decreased, while the carnitine concentrations in liver and muscle were elevated. The carnitine concentrations of burn wound fluid were similar to that of plasma (109). Burn patients have an increased excretion of carnitine in the first eight days following injury (58). In contrast to results obtained in humans, the plasma carnitine concentration of rats increased at 6 hr following the administration of a 20% body surface full thickness burn (240). Plasma levels of total carnitine were lower in young obese mice (ob/ob) than in their lean litter mates (100). Soon after denervation in rats, a marked drop in muscle carnitine concentration was observed that was more pronounced in red than white muscles (128). Intravenous lipid administration decreased blood carnitine concentrations and urinary carnitine excretion (134).

Endocrine control of tissue carnitine concentrations appears to involve more hormonal factors than the steroids mentioned above. Implantation of MtT-F4 tumor—a pituitary tumor that secretes large quantities of prolactin, growth hormone, and ACTH—increased total liver carnitine concentrations ninefold and decreased the serum carnitine concentrations (180). Hypothyroid patients had markedly reduced urinary carnitine excretion, which was increased after substitution therapy with thyroid hormones (78, 145, 146). Hyperthyroid patients had markedly increased urinary carnitine excretion, which returned to normal upon treatment with antithyroid drugs (145). Mice given eight sub-

cutaneous injections of 20 µg L-thyroxine at 12 hr intervals had lower skeletal muscle carnitine concentrations than control mice (55).

CARNITINE IN NORMAL METABOLISM

Accepted Functions of Carnitine

The one universally accepted function of carnitine is the transport of long chain fatty acids into the mitochondrial matrix (see introduction). Two other related functions of carnitine have been recognized.

It is generally accepted that carnitine plays an important role in thermogenesis in brown adipose tissue. Brown adipose tissue of late fetal rats and suckling rats accumulated subcutaneously injected [14C]-DL-carnitine more rapidly than did heart or muscle (105). Rat brown adipose tissue carnitine concentrations increased rapidly after birth, attaining a peak at about day ten, and then decreased (104). The body pool of carnitine was eight times greater in cold acclimated rats than in rats maintained at 25°C (222).

A careful investigation of the control of the initiation of ketogenesis has demonstrated that carnitine plays an important role in this process (155, 157). Treatment of fed rats with anti-insulin serum or glucagon, or a 24 hr fast, or alloxan diabetes enhanced long chain fatty acid oxidation and ketogenesis in perfused rat liver and increased liver carnitine concentrations two- to fourfold. Carnitine added to a medium that was perfusing liver from fed rats stimulated ketogenesis from oleic acid (158). Enhanced hepatic carnitine concentration alone was not sufficient to initiate ketogenesis. In the fed state, perfused livers from nursing mother rats synthesized ketone bodies from oleic acid at low rates compared with those seen after a 24 hr fast, despite the fact that hepatic carnitine concentrations were equally elevated in both groups (194). Reduced malonyl CoA concentrations in addition to increased carnitine concentrations appear to be the combination that maximally stimulates ketogenesis (157).

Suspected Functions of Carnitine

Catabolism of branched chain amino acids is important in energy metabolism in many normal physiological and pathophysiological conditions. Carnitine serves a facilitative role if not an obligatory role in branched chain amino acids catabolism (17). L-carnitine increased the oxidation of branched chain 2-oxoacids derived from leucine and valine (225). Incubation of isolated mitochondria with [Me³H]L-carnitine and the branched chain 2-oxoacids resulted in the acylcarnitines corresponding to valine, leucine, and isoleucine (208). The amount of isobutyrylcarnitine and isovalerylcarnitine increased significantly in muscle from fasted animals, which is consistent with the hypothesis that carnitine functions in branched chain amino acid catabolism (68). Branched chain oxoacid dehydrogenase is probably localized on the inner surface of the inner mitochondrial membrane and is regulated as follows. The

reaction produces CO₂ and an acylCoA ester that inhibits the branched chain oxoacid dehydrogenase. Carnitine and the acylCoA react through the mediation of the carnitine acyltransferase II to produce an acylcarnitine ester. The acylcarnitine ester is transported out of the mitochondrial matrix, and intramitochondrial coenzyme A is liberated for further oxidation (154, 226).

Although not all laboratories agree (85, 86, 185), many laboratories have concluded that fatty acid oxidation plays an important physiological role in vivo in the regulation of gluconeogenesis. Oleic acid produced a two- to threefold stimulation of glucose production from lactate in perfused livers from fasted rats. The effect was completely blocked by (+) decanoylcarnitine, a known inhibitor of carnitine palmitoyl transferase. The effect of fatty acids on gluconeogenesis is determined by their rate of oxidation and not by their concentration in the perfusion medium (235, 236). Metabolic interactions between fatty acid oxidation and gluconeogenesis were investigated in vivo in 16 hr old newborn rats. The authors concluded that in the newborn rat in vivo hepatic fatty acid oxidation can increase the gluconeogenic flux by providing the acetylCoA necessary for the reaction catalyzed by pyruvate carboxylase and the reducing equivalents (NADH) to displace the reversible reaction catalyzed by glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in the direction of gluconeogenesis (87, 88, 237). Long chain L-acylcarnitine derivatives have been shown to increase glucose production by pigeon liver homogenates when the substrate was either lactate or alanine. In contrast D-fatty acylcarnitine derivatives inhibited incorporation of ¹⁴C-labeled substrates into glucose and also decreased net glucose formation measured chemically. L-carnitine or acylcarnitine derivatives released this inhibition whereas D-carnitine did not (75). The rate of gluconeogenesis from propionate in rat kidney cortex slices was stimulated up to 3.5-fold by DL-carnitine and by bicarbonate (233). Addition of carnitine during the incubation of slices of rabbit liver with alanine-U-14C increased radioactivity of the glucose that was recovered in suspending medium and tissue glycogen. Carnitine also promoted the incorporation of alanine carbons into glucose by slices of kidney cortex from fasted rabbits and the labeling of glucose by liver slices incubated in the presence of NaH¹⁴CO₃ (13). Although the mechanism remains to be fully elucidated, the hypothesis that carnitine plays a role in gluconeogenesis is supported by the finding that many patients with genetic carnitine deficiency have severe bouts of hypoglycemia (41, 205).

Evidence is accumulating that carnitine and the short and medium chain carnitine acyltransferases in peroxisomes are involved in the shuttling of acetyl and medium chain acyl residues (which are the products of the chain shortening processes in the peroxisome) out of peroxisomes (17, 18).

Two hundred fifty-five children aged 3–6 years were treated at an institute for the prevention of tuberculosis. For 2–5 months, 122 children received oral carnitine (600 mg/day) and 133 children received a placebo. The mean increase

in weight of the treated group was significantly higher than that of the untreated group (1). Thirty-four infants (aged 1.5 months to 6 years) suffering from malnutrition and infections were treated with a 20% carnitine solution. The children experienced recovery of appetite and excellent tolerance of the supplementation. Their growth rates increased to rates approaching or equal to normal rates (26). These early reports have not been confirmed, but there have been isolated statements in case reports of children with genetic carnitine deficiency where carnitine supplementation increased appetite and growth rates [cited in (41)].

CARNITINE IN ABNORMAL METABOLISM

Carnitine in Muscle Disease

The genetic human carnitine deficiency discussed briefly in the introduction is actually a family of syndromes. Investigations of these patients have increased our knowledge of carnitine metabolism greatly, but space will not permit a detailed description of the 50 some patients that have been identified. A review of the first 28 patients identified has been published [Table IV in (41)].

Patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy (15, 32, 45, 200) or with Becker dystrophy (32) had a skeletal muscle carnitine deficiency that was less severe than the deficiency in the classical carnitine deficiency syndrome but that may have contributed to the muscle weakness experienced by the patients. There are conflicting reports concerning urinary carnitine excretion in patients with Duchenne dystrophy (76,133,148), but all available data indicate that patients with Duchenne dystrophy have abnormal carnitine metabolism.

Carnitine in Cardiac Disease

Fatty acid oxidation is a major source of energy for cardiac tissue, and any disturbance of fatty acid oxidation leads to severe metabolic consequences for cardiac tissue (169, 174, 175, 228). Occlusion of the left anterior descending coronary artery for 30 min led to significant increase in acylCoA levels in mitochondria of the ischemic heart cells. Preinfusion of 1 ml/kg of lipid further increased the acylCoA accumulation. Administration of carnitine prior to reperfusion not only suppressed accumulation of acylCoA in reperfused mitochondria but also preserved mitochondrial function despite preinfusion of lipid (136, 212). Long chain acylCoA esters inhibited adenine nucleotide translocation in heart mitochondria, but this inhibition could be reversed by carnitine (204). Infusion of carnitine may benefit ischemic myocardium by maintaining tissue levels of free carnitine and reversing the inhibition of adenine nucleotide translocase by acylCoA (89). The percent of total cellular carnitine associated with mitochondria increased from 8–9% in control hearts

to 25% in ischemic hearts, indicating a net transfer of carnitine from the cytosol to the mitochondrial matrix (123).

Twenty-one patients with coronary artery disease were subjected to two rapid sinus pacing studies 15 min apart. Eleven patients received DL-carnitine (20 or 40 mg/kg) before the second pacing study. The treated group had a significantly increased mean heart rate, pressure rate product, and pacing endurance after the administration of carnitine (223). Eight patients suffering from stable angina pectoris had a significantly increased work threshold of appearance of angina on effort when given carnitine intravenously at a dose of 40 mg/kg body weight (67). Eighteen patients with coronary artery disease were subjected to two exercise sessions separated by two weeks. DL-carnitine (40 mg/kg body weight) or placebo was given intravenously 3 min prior to exercise. Carnitine administration resulted in lower exercise heart rate, lower pressure rate product, and prolongation of exercise time prior to onset of angina (135). Two groups of patients with stable angina pectoris recorded their number of angina attacks and nitroglycerin consumption per week. At the end of the 21 day washout period the two groups did not differ. The two groups were given oral carnitine every 6 hr for 60 days. One group received DLcarnitine (100 mg/kg daily) and the other group received L-carnitine (50 mg/kg daily). During the first 30 days of carnitine, both groups had a reduction in the number of angina attacks and in nitroglycerin consumption. From day 30 to day 60 there was a further reduction in angina attacks and nitroglycerin consumption in the group treated with L-carnitine but not in the group treated with DL-carnitine. The group treated with L-carnitine had a significantly lower number of angina attacks and lower nitroglycerin consumption at day 45 and day 60 than the group treated with DL-carnitine (95).

Pretreatment of dog hearts with ligated coronary arteries with L-carnitine reduced the grade of ventricular arrhythmia induced both by acute myocardial ischemia and by supplementation of excess free fatty acids (214). Free fatty acid induced arrhythmias appeared to be related to the disturbance of mitochondrial calcium binding activity induced by accumulation of acylCoA. Carnitine, especially propionylcarnitine, was effective in preserving the mitochondrial calcium binding activity despite subsequent infusion of lipid (211). Diphtheria toxin induced fatty degeneration of myocardium and decreased the rate of oxidation of long chain fatty acids, with a markedly decreased concentration of carnitine and an excessive accumulation of triglyceride. Exogenous carnitine restored the rate of palmitate oxidation in vitro in myocardial homogenates and in isolated perfused diphtheritic guinea-pig hearts (37, 64, 241). Adriamycin is an important antineoplastic drug, but it can induce a cardiomyopathy that may be fatal. Carnitine has been shown to protect against the adriamycin cardiomyopathy in some animal models (210) but not in others (97). Myocardial carnitine concentrations are markedly reduced in both chronically and acutely uremic rats (234). Hamsters suffering from a genetic cardiomyopathy have reduced cardiac carnitine concentrations that probably result from impaired transport of carnitine into the myocyte due to an altered cardiac carnitine binding protein (33, 244).

Carnitine in Liver Disease

Patients hospitalized for advanced cirrhosis frequently have subnormal plasma carnitine concentrations. Post mortem concentrations of carnitine in liver, muscle, heart, kidney, and brain of these patients averaged 25–33% of those in corresponding tissues of normally nourished nonhepatic patients. The investigators postulate that the carnitine depletion results from three factors: substandard intake of dietary carnitine; substandard intake of lysine and methionine; and the loss of capacity to synthesize carnitine from lysine and methionine (196).

Jamaican vomiting sickness has many clinical characteristics in common with Reye's syndrome and is caused by the compound hypoglycin found in unripe ackee fruit. Intravenous administration of hypoglycin to mice caused severe hypoglycemia which was preceded by a decrease in palmitate oxidation by myocardial homogenates. Addition of carnitine to the myocardial homogenates of treated mice restored palmitate oxidation to normal levels. Administration of carnitine to hypoglycin-treated mice prevented the decrease in myocardial palmitate oxidation and prevented the hypoglycemia (82). During studies on the mechanism of inhibition of fatty acid oxidation by 4-pentenoic acid (a metabolite of hypoglycin), fatty acid oxidation was inhibited in rat liver mitochondria by CoA depletion resulting from incorporation of free CoA into a product of 4-pentenoic acid metabolism (94). There has been one report of the apparent failure of carnitine to prevent the effects of hypoglycin (151). The clinical symptoms of Reye's syndrome are also similar to the encephopathic symptoms of children with classical carnitine deficiency, and several children with carnitine deficiency have been diagnosed initially as having Reye's syndrome (41). However, patients with true Reye's syndrome have elevated serum carnitine concentrations during the acute phase. The levels return to normal in the convalescent phase of survivors (111). Reve's syndrome patients have normal liver and skeletal muscle carnitine concentrations (238).

Studies of patients with various lipid diseases indicate that carnitine affects lipoprotein metabolism in the liver. Perfused rat liver supplied with oleic acid was treated with 2-tetradecylglycidate, which inhibited fatty acid oxidation. This direct and specific inhibition of long chain fatty acid oxidation diverted exogenous fatty acids to the esterification pathway and enhanced the secretion of triglyceride in the form of VLDL. The rate of fatty acid oxidation in liver was therefore a major determinant in the producton of triglyceride-rich plasma lipoproteins (121). Fatty acids, whether supplied in the medium or synthesized

de novo, induced the formation of membrane-rimmed, triglyceride-rich vesicles in the cytoplasm of chick liver cells in culture. Vesicle triglyceride was rapidly mobilized in the presence of dibutyryl-cAMP, and the process was further accelerated by L-carnitine (168).

Two otherwise normal males were selected for normal serum cholesterol and triglycerides but low serum HDL-cholesterol. Oral L-carnitine treatment for 10–15 weeks (1 g/day) substantially increased the HDL-cholesterol and decreased the triglyceride (195). Twenty-six patients with type II or type IV hyperlipoproteinemia were treated with 3 g of oral carnitine per day with a marked reduction in serum cholesterol and serum triglyceride. The risk index—total cholesterol divided by HDL-cholesterol—was also reduced (186). Another study of patients with type IV hyperlipoproteinemia demonstrated a reduction in serum triglyceride concentrations with oral or intravenous carnitine but demonstrated no effect on serum cholesterol concentration (149). Clofibrate is frequently used to lower blood lipids in patients. Clofibrate treatment of rats increased liver, plasma, and total body carnitine (127, 150).

Carnitine in Kidney Disease

Serum carnitine concentrations were frequently above normal in patients with renal insufficiency (66). During hemodialysis there was a sharp decline in the serum carnitine concentrations. This decline could be accounted for almost quantitatively by the accumulation of carnitine in dialysate fluid (7). Plasma free carnitine concentrations in 6 patients fell 73% during dialysis and returned to normal within 6 hr. If the patients were given 3 g of oral DL-carnitine at the end of dialysis, plasma carnitine concentrations recovered within 2 hr (20). Using prolonged longitudinal plasma carnitine measurements, patients can be divided into a group in which there is a return to normal plasma carnitine concentrations after dialysis and another group in which chronic plasma carnitine deficiency was established by dialysis (8). Addition of L-carnitine to the dialysate (65 \(\mu\)mol/liter) completely prevented the decrease in plasma camitine during dialysis (19). Administration of L-carnitine (2 g orally) 2 hr before dialysis of 17 renal patients maintained plasma carnitine concentrations within normal levels throughout dialysis and suppressed the increase in plasma free fatty acids that was seen without carnitine treatment (215). Two laboratories have reported a reduction in skeletal muscle carnitine concentrations in dialysis patients (16, 22) and one laboratory has found normal carnitine concentrations in the skeletal muscle of dialysis patients (160). In one study, intravenous administration of DL-carnitine (50 mg/kg body weight) after each dialysis significantly increased muscle carnitine concentrations at the end of two months of treatment (16). Blood carnitine concentrations of patients on continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis were maintained in the normal range during the first year of treatment but then declined slowly and progessively until they were below normal limits by the end of the second year of treatment (42).

Fifty-one chronic hemodialysis patients receiving oral DL-carnitine for 3 days (2.4 g/day) showed decreased serum triglyceride concentrations and return of HDL cholesterol to normal levels (138). Dialysis patients receiving carnitine at 0.5 g/day for 8 weeks and 1.0 g/day for six additional weeks showed decreased serum triglycerides while patients receiving placebo showed no change (98). Ten hypertriglyceridemic hemodialysis patients were given DL-carnitine at a dose of 600 mg/day for eight weeks and then 1.2 g/day for 12 weeks. Some of these patients responded with a decrease in plasma triglyceride concentrations by as much as 50% and other patients showed an actual increase. The observation remains unexplained (65).

Carnitine in Diabetes

Diabetic rats have higher hepatic carnitine concentrations than normal rats (158) and higher skeletal muscle (soleus) carnitine concentrations (209). Diabetic sheep also have higher hepatic carnitine concentrations than normal animals (207). In a recent study myocardial carnitine concentrations and serum carnitine concentrations were reduced after 48 hr of severe diabetes or several weeks of mild diabetes. Carnitine transport into cardiac tissue was not altered in diabetic animals, but the serum carnitine concentration was decreased to a value near the Km for carnitine transport. The authors concluded that a decreased rate of transport of carnitine into heart due to lower serum carnitine could be responsible for the reduced carnitine concentrations seen in diabetic hearts (227). Patients with diabetes are reported to have reduced plasma carnitine concentrations but normal skeletal muscle carnitine concentrations (56, 63).

In rats, plasma total carnitine decreased during the first 24 hr of a fast and then increased, reaching levels higher than the control. Hepatic and cardiac carnitine concentrations increase during fasting, but this increase may arise indirectly from changes in tissue mass (35). Total carnitine concentration in the blood of obese mice was lower than in lean mice at the start of the starvation period. It increased significantly and considerably during starvation in the obese mice, whereas it decreased in their lean litter mates (106).

CARNITINE THE NUTRIENT

Carnitine in the Infant Diet

Fatty acid oxidation in the developing animal or infant has been studied extensively (4, 5, 90, 101, 103, 229, 231, 232, 243). These investigators have demonstrated that oxidation of long chain fatty acids, which requires carnitine, is critical to survival and normal development of the newborn. Blood carnitine concentrations in the fetus and in cord blood are higher than in maternal blood

(6, 107). The initial carnitine concentration in the newborn depended upon the maternal carnitine concentration (172). Full term newborns have plasma carnitine concentrations similar to that of preterm infants of 33–36 weeks gestation but significantly lower than that of preterm infants of 30-33 weeks gestation. The plasma carnitine concentrations of full term infants increased during the first two weeks of life and reached adult levels by six months of age (10). All types of milk tested contain carnitine (84, 197, 206), and milk may be the source of the carnitine that accumulates in mammalian tissues during early development. Nursing mother rats were injected with [14C-butyrobetaine], and the radioactivity was found as carnitine first in the maternal liver, then maternal plasma, then milk, and finally in neonatal tissues (194). Commercial infant formulas based on soy protein contain no detectable carnitine (34). Plasma concentrations of carnitine rapidly decreased in preterm newborns during the first three days after birth if no exogenous carnitine was given (172). Plasma carnitine concentrations of infants fed soy based formulas were lower than those found in infants fed breast milk, a milk based formula, or a soy based formula supplemented with carnitine (171, 173). The bioavailability of carnitine in breast milk was found to be greater than that in milk based formula (230). Several lines of evidence indicate that carnitine may be an essential nutrient for the newborn (29).

Carnitine in the Typical American Diet

Our knowledge of the carnitine content of foodstuffs has been limited (161). Recent analysis of several hundred foodstuffs in ready to eat form indicate that meat and dairy products are the major sources of carnitine in the United States diet. In general, the redder the meat the higher the carnitine content. When dairy products were fractionated, the water soluble carnitine remained in the whey portion of the product. Fourteen different diets used by hospitals in the United States were evaluated for their carnitine content, and carnitine intake was calculated for a large number of patients consuming the diets. The daily intake was usually between 2 and 100 mg but was 300 mg in some cases (unpublished results).

Carnitine in the Vegetarian Diet

Cereals, fruits, and vegetables contain little or no carnitine. The major source of carnitine in a vegetarian diet was the fermented soybean product tempeh. The mold used in the fermentation process synthesizes carnitine, increasing the carnitine content of tempeh (unpublished results).

Carnitine in Defined Enteral Diets

An increasing number of people are being maintained for long periods on defined enteral diets. Formulas whose main protein source is soy protein isolate, casein, or egg white protein contain 4 nmol/ml carnitine or less, with most containing undetectable amounts of carnitine. Formulas made with milk contain 50 nmol/ml or more carnitine (34).

Carnitine in Total Parenteral Nutrition

All solutions used in total parenteral nutrition contain no carnitine. Plasma levels of total carnitine remained unaltered in adult surgical patients fed intravenously for up to about 20 days of feeding and then gradually declined (102). Infants maintained on total parenteral nutrition have lower plasma carnitine concentrations than those fed orally with expressed human milk or proprietary formula (198). Infusions containing lipid did not alter plasma carnitine concentrations (199). Total parenteral nutrition for more than 15 days resulted in significantly lower liver and heart carnitine concentrations in infants (183). One group of preterm infants was maintained on total parenteral nutrition and a second group of preterm infants was maintained on a carnitine-containing milk formula. Serum and urinary carnitine fell after five days on total parenteral nutrition while there was no change in the formula fed infants. Infants on total parenteral nutrition had lower serum carnitine concentrations on the fifth day of life than formula fed infants (184). Carnitine supplementation may be required for some patients receiving total parenteral nutrition.

CARNITINE IN THE FUTURE

Carnitine in Nutrition of the Normal Individual

The normal newborn, the normal pregnant woman, the normal lactating woman, and the normal adult with a diet low in lysine and methionine may require exogenous carnitine.

Carnitine in Treatment of Patients

Many disease states in addition to the classical carnitine deficiency may benefit from carnitine therapy. Recent clinical experience indicates that the L isomer and not the DL racemic mixture should be used in carnitine therapy. Myasthenia-like symptoms have been found in hemodialysis patients treated with DL-carnitine for 45 days (12, 74). The symptoms disappeared upon cessation of DL-carnitine supplementation. After a washout period, the same dosage of L-carnitine administered to the same patients did not cause any of the symptoms previously noticed with DL-carnitine treatment (11). Intraperitoneal injection of D-carnitine (750 mg/day) for four days produced an L-carnitine deficiency in cardiac and skeletal muscle (182).

SUMMARY

Carnitine has a critical role in energy metabolism. Many of the functions of carnitine are not clearly elucidated and many of the regulatory mechanisms

governing carnitine metabolism are ill-defined. Carnitine deficiency can be life threatening but may be resolved with carnitine supplementation. Various groups of individuals in addition to those with the classical carnitine deficiency syndrome may require exogenous carnitine. Carnitine nutriture can no longer be ignored.

Literature Cited

- Alexander, F., Peeters, H., Vuylsteke, P. 1959. Activité clinique et métabolique de la carnitine chez l'enfant. In *Protides* of the Biological Fluids, ed. H. Peeters, pp. 306-10. Amsterdam: Elsevier
- Aronson, N. N. Jr. 1980. Effects of glucagon and insulin on liver lysosomes. *Life Sci*. 27:95–104
- Bahl, J., Navin, T., Manian, A. A., Bressler, R. 1981. Carnitine transport in isolated adult rat heart myocytes and the effect of 7,8-diOHchlorpromazine. Circ. Res. 48:378-85
- Bailey, E. 1981. Regulation of hepatic lipid metabolism during development of the rat. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 9:371-72
- Bailey, E., Lockwood, E. A. 1973. Some aspects of fatty acid oxidation and ketone body formation and utilization during development of the rat. *Enzymes* 15:239-53
- Bargen-Lockner, C., Hahn, P., Witt-mann, B. 1981. Plasma carnitine in pregnancy. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 140: 412-14
- Bartel, L. L., Hussey, J. L., Shrago, E. 1981. Perturbation of serum carnitine levels in human adults by chronic renal disease and dialysis therapy. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 34:1314-20
- Battistella, P. A., Angelini, C., Vergani, L., Bertoli, M., Lorenzi, S. 1978. Camitine deficiency induced during hemodialysis. *Lancet* 1:939
- Battistella, P. A., Vergani, L., Angelini, C. 1979. Tissue levels of carnitine in human growth. In *Perspectives of Inher*ited Metabolic Diseases, ed. B. Berra, S. DiDonate, 3:151-62. Milan: Ermes
- Battistella, P. A., Vergani, L., Donzelli, F., Rubaltelli, F. F., Angelini, C. 1980. Plasma and urine carnitine levels during development. *Pediatr. Res.* 14:1379–81
- Bazzato, G., Coli, U., Landini, S., Mezzina, C., Ciman, M. 1981. Myasthenialike syndrome after D,L- but not Lcarnitine. *Lancet* 1:1209
- Bazzato, G., Mezzina, C., Ciman, M., Guarnieri, G. 1979. Myasthenia-like syndrome associated with carnitine in patients on long-term hemodialysis. *Lancet* 1:1041-42

- Benmiloud, M., Freinkel, N. 1967. Stimulation of gluconeogenesis by carnitine in vitro. *Metabolism* 16:658-69
- Bergstrom, J. D., Reitz, R. C. 1980. Studies on carnitine palmitoyl transferase: the similar nature of CPT₁ (inner form) and CPT₀ (outer form). Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 204:71-79
- Berthillier, G., Eichenberger, D., Carrier, H. N., Giubaud, P., Got, R. 1982.
 Carnitine metabolism in early stages of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Clin. Chim. Acta 122:369-75
- Bertoli, M., Battistella, P. A., Vergani, L., Naso, A., Gasparotto, M. L., Romagnoli, G. F., Angelini, C. 1981. Carnitine deficiency induced during hemodialysis and hyperlipidemia: effect of replacement therapy. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 34:1496-1500
- Bieber, L. L., Emaus, R., Valkner, K., Farrell, S. 1982. Possible functions of short-chain and medium-chain carnitine acyltransferases. Fed. Proc. 41:2858–62
- Bieber, L. L., Valkner, K., Farrell, S. 1982. Carnitine acyl transferases of liver peroxisomes. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 386: 395-96
- Bizzi, A., Cini, M., Garattini, S., Mingardi, G., Licini, L., Mecca, G. 1979.
 L-carnitine addition to haemodialysis fluid prevents plasma-carnitine deficiency during dialysis. *Lancet* 1:882
- Bizzi, A., Mingardi, G., Codegoni, A. M., Mecca, G., Garattini, S. 1978. Accelerated recovery of post-dialysis plasma carnitine fall by oral carnitine. Biomedicine 29:183–84
- Bohmer, T. 1974. Conversion of butyrobetaine to carnitine in the rat in vivo. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 343:551–57
- Bohmer, T., Bergrem, H., Eiklid, K. 1978. Carnitine deficiency induced during intermittent hemodialysis for renal failure. *Lancet* 1:126-28
- Bohmer, T., Eiklid, K., Jonsen, J. 1977. Carnitine uptake into human heart cells in culture. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 465: 627-33
- Bohmer, T., Hansson, V. 1975. Androgen-dependent accumulation of carnitine by rat epididymis after injection

- of [³H]butyrobetaine in vivo. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 3:103–15
- Bohmer, T., Rydning, A., Solberg, H. E. 1974. Carnitine levels in human serum in health and disease. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 57:55-61
- Borniche, P., Canlorbe, P. 1960. Action clinique et humorale de la carnitine dans les syndromes de dénutrition postinfectieux de l'enfance. Clin. Chim. Acia 5:171-76
- Borum, P. R. 1978. Variation in tissue carnitine concentrations with age and sex in the rat. *Biochem. J.* 176:677–81
- Borum, P. R. 1980. Regulation of the carnitine concentration in plasma. In Carnitine Biosynthesis, Metabolism and Functions, ed. R. Frenkel, J. D. Mc-Garry, pp. 115-26. NY: Academic. 356 pp.
- Borum, P. R. 1981. Possible carnitine requirement of the newborn and the effect of genetic diseases on the carnitine requirement. *Nutr. Rev.* 39:385-90
- Borum, P. R., Broquist, H. P. 1977.
 Lysine deficiency and carnitine in male and female rats. J. Nutr. 107:1209-15
- Borum, P. R., Broquist, H. P. 1977. Purification of S-adenosylmethionine: e-N-L-lysine methyl transferase. The first enzyme in carnitine biosynthesis. J. Biol. Chem. 252:5651-55
- Borum, P. R., Broquist, H. P., Roelofs, R. I. 1977. Muscle carnitine levels in neuromuscular disease. J. Neurol. Sci. 34:279-86
- Borum, P. R., Park, J. H., Law, P. K., Roelofs, R. I. 1978. Altered tissue carnitine levels in animals with hereditary muscular dystrophy. J. Neurol. Sci. 38: 113-21
- Borum, P. R., York, C. M., Broquist, H. P. 1979. Carnitine content of liquid formulas and special diets. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 32:2272-76
- Brass, E. P., Hoppel, C. L. 1978. Carnitine metabolism in the fasting rat. J. Biol. Chem. 253:2688-93
- Brass, E. P., Hoppel, C. L. 1980. Relationship between acid-soluble carnitine and coenzyme A pools in vivo. *Biochem. J.* 190:495–504
- Bressler, R., Whittels, B. 1965. The effect of diphtheria toxin on carnitine metabolism in the heart. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 104:39–45
- Brooks, D. E., Hamilton, D. W., Mallek, A. H. 1974. Carnitine and glyceryl-phosphorylcholine in the reproductive tract of the male rat. *J. Reprod. Fertil.* 36:141-60
- Brooks, D. E., McIntosh, J. E. A. 1975.

- Turnover of carnitine by rat tissues. Biochem J. 148:439-45
- Broquist, H. P. 1982. Carnitine biosynthesis and function. Fed. Proc. 41:2840-42
- Broquist, H. P., Borum, P. R. 1982. Camitine biosynthesis. Nutritional implications. In Advances in Nutritional Research, ed. H. H. Draper, 4:181–204. NY: Plenum. 344 pp.
- Buoncristiani, U., DiPaolo, N., Carobi, C., Cozzari, M., Quintaliani, G., Bracaglia, R. 1981. Carnitine depletion with CAPD. In Advances in Peritoneal Dialysis, ed. G. M. Gahl, M. Kessel, K. D. Nolph, pp. 441-45. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica
- Calvin, J., Tubbs, P. K. 1976. A carnitine: acetyl carnitine exchange system in spermatozoa. *J. Reprod. Fertil.* 48: 417–20
- Cantrell, C. R., Borum, P. R. 1982. Identification of a cardiac carnitine binding protein. J. Biol. Chem. 257:10599–604
- Carrier, H. N., Berthillier, G. 1980. Carnitine levels in normal children and adults and in patients with diseased muscle. Muscle and Nerve 3:326-34
- Carter, A. L., Frenkel, R. 1978. The relationship of choline and carnitine in the choline deficient rat. *J. Nutr.* 108: 1748-54
- Carter, A. L., Frenkel, R. 1979. The role of the kidney in the biosynthesis of carnitine in the rat. *J. Biol. Chem.* 254: 10670-74
- Carter, A. L., Stratman, F. W. 1982. Sex steroid regulation of urinary excretion of carnitine in rats. J. Steroid Biochem. 17:211-15
- Casillas, E. R. 1972. The distribution of carnitine in male reproductive tissues and its effect on palmitate oxidation by spermatozoal particles. *Biochim. Biophys.* Acta 280:545-51
- Casillas, E. R. 1973. Accumulation of carnitine by bovine spermatozoa during maturation in the epididymis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 248:8227–32
- Casillas, E. R., Chaipayungpan, S. 1982. Carnitine content of rabbit epididymal spermatozoa in organ culture. *J. Reprod. Fertil.* 65:247-51
 Casillas, E. R., Erickson, B. J. 1975.
- 52. Casillas, E. R., Erickson, B. J. 1975. The role of carnitine in spermatozoan metabolism: substrate-induced elevations in the acetylation state of carnitine and coenzyme A in bovine and monkey spermatozoa. *Biol. Reprod.* 12: 275-83
- 53. Casillas, E. R., Erickson, B. J. 1975.

- Studies on carnitine synthesis in the rat epididymis. J. Reprod. Fert. 44:287–91
- Ćederblad, G. 1976. Plasma carnitine and body composition. Clin. Chim. Acta 67:207-12
- Cederblad, G., Engstrom, G. 1978.
 Effect of thyroxine treatment on carnitine levels in mice. Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol. 43:1-5
- Cederblad, G., Hermansson, G., Ludvigsson, J. 1982. Plasma and urine carnitine in children with diabetes mellitus. Clin. Chim. Acta 125:207-17
- Cederblad, G., Holm, J., Lindstedt, G., Lindstedt, S., Nordin, I., Schersten, T. 1979. γ-Butyrobetaine hydroxylase activity in human and ovine liver and skeletal muscle tissue. FEBS Lett. 98:57-60
- Cederblad, G., Larsson, J., Nordström, H., Schildt, B. 1980. Urinary excretion of carnitine in burned patients. *Burns* 8:102-9
- Cederblad, G., Lindstedt, S. 1971. Excretion of L-carnitine in man. Clin. Chim. Acta 33:117-23
- Cederblad, G., Lindstedt, S. 1972. A method for the determination of carnitine in the picomole range. Clin. Chim, Acta 37:235-43
- Cederblad, G., Lindstedt, S. 1976.
 Metabolism of labeled carnitine in the rat. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 175: 173-80
- Cederblad, G., Lindstedt, S., Lundholm,
 K. 1974. Concentration of carnitine in human muscle tissue. Clin. Chim. Acta 53:311-21
- Cederblad, G., Lundholm, K., Schersten, T. 1977. Carnitine concentration in skeletal muscle tissue from patients with diabetes mellitus. Acta Med. Scand. 202:305-6
- Challoner, D. R., Prols, H. G. 1972.
 Free fatty acid oxidation and carnitine levels in diphtheric guinea pig myocardium. J. Clin. Invest. 51:2071-76
- Chan, M. K., Persand, J. W., Varghese, Z., Baillod, R. A., Moorhead, J. F. 1982. Response patterns to DL-carnitine in patients on maintenance haemodialysis. Nephron 30:240-43
- Chen, S. H., Lincoln, S. D. 1977. Increased serum carnitine concentration in renal insufficiency. *Clin. Chem.* 23: 278–80
- Cherchi, A., Fonzo, R., Lai, C., Mercuro, G., Corsi, M. 1978. The antiangina action of carnitine. *Boll. Soc. Ital. Cardiol.* 23:71–89
- Choi, Y. R., Fogle, P. J., Bieber, L. L. 1979. The effect of long-term fasting on the branched chain acylcarnitines and

- branched chain carnitine acyltransferases. J. Nutr. 109:155-61
- Christiansen, R. Z. 1977. Regulation of palmitate metabolism by carnitine and glucagon in hepatocytes isolated from fasted and carbohydrate refed rats. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 488:249-62
- Christiansen, R. Z., Bremer, J. 1976.
 Active transport of butyrobetaine and carnitine into isolated liver cells.
 Biochim. Biophys. Acta 448:562-77
- Corredor, C., Mansbach, C., Bressler, R. 1967. Carnitine depletion in the choline-deficient state. *Biochim. Biophys.* Acta 144:366-74
- Cox, R. A., Hoppel, C. L. 1974. Carnitine and trimethylamino-butyrate synthesis in the rat tissues. *Biochem J*. 142:699-701
- Cox, R. A., Hoppel, C. L. 1974. Carnitine biosynthesis in rat liver slices. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 362:403–13
- DeGrandis, D., Mezzina, C., Fiaschi, A., Pinelli, P., Bazzato, G., Morachiello, M. 1980. Myasthenia due to carnitine treatment. J. Neurol. Sci. 46:365-71
- Delisle, G., Fritz, I. B. 1967. Interrelations between hepatic fatty acid oxidation and gluconeogenesis: a possible regulatory role of carnitine palmitoltransferase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 58:790–97
- DiMauro, S., Rowland, L. P. 1976. Urinary excretion of carnitine in duchenne muscular dystrophy. Arch. Neurol. 33:204-05
- Dunn, W. A., Aronson, N. N. Jr., Englard, S. 1982. The effects of 1-amino-D-proline on the production of carnitine from exogenous protein-bound trimethyllysine by the perfused rat liver. J. Biol. Chem. 257:7948-51
- Eanes, R. Z., Biniek, R. L. 1980. The twenty-four-hour urinary excretion of carnitine and creatinine in normal and hypothyroid children. *Biochem. Med.* 24:110–17
- Engel, A. G., Angelini, C. 1973. Carnitine deficiency of human skeletal muscle with associated lipid storage myopathy: a new syndrome. Science 179:899–902
- Englard, S. 1979. Hydroxylation of γ-butyrobetaine to carnitine in human and monkey tissue. FEBS Lett. 102: 297-300
- Englard, S., Carnicero, H. H. 1978. γ-Butyrobetaine hydroxylation to carnitine in mammalian kidney. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 190:361-64
- Entman, M., Bressler, R. 1967. The mechanism of action of hypoglycin on long-chain fatty acid oxidation. Mol. Pharmacol. 3:333-40

- Erfle, J. D. 1975. Hydroxylation of γ-butyrobetaine by rat and ovine tissues. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 64: 553-57
- Erfle, J. D., Sauer, F. D., Fisher, L. J. 1974. Interrelationships between milk carnitine and blood and milk components and tissue carnitine in normal and ketotic cows. J. Dairy Sci. 57:671-76
- Exton, J. H., Corbin, J. G., Park, C. R. 1969. Control of gluconeogenesis in liver. IV. Differential effects of fatty acids and glucagon on ketogenesis and gluconeogensis in the perfused rat liver. J. Biol. Chem. 244:4095-4102
- 86. Exton, J. H. 1972. Gluconeogenesis. Metabolism 21:945-90
- Ferré, P., Pégorier, J. P., Williamson, D. H., Girard, J. 1979. Interactions in vivo between oxidation of non-esterified fatty acids and gluconeogenesis in the newborn rat. *Biochem. J.* 182:593–98
- Ferré, P., Satabin, P., Manoubi, L. E. L., Callikan, S., Girard, J. 1981. Relationship between ketogenesis and gluconeogenesis in isolated hepatocytes from newborn rats. *Biochem. J.* 200: 429-33
- Folts, J. D., Shug, A. L., Koke, J. R., Bittar, N. 1978. Protection of the ischemic dog myocardium with carnitine. Am. J. Cardiol. 41:1209-14
- Foster, P. C., Bailey, E. 1976. Changes in the activities of the enzymes of hepatic fatty acid oxidation during development of the rat. *Biochem. J.* 154:49-56
- 91. Fraenkel, G. 1980. The proposed vitamin role of camitine. See Ref. 28, pp. 1-6
- Fraenkel, G., Friedman, S. 1957. Carnitine. In Vitamins and Hormones, ed. R. S. Harris, G. F. Marrian, K. V. Thimann, 15:73–118. NY: Academic
- 93. Fritz, I. B., Kopec, B., Brosnan, J. T. 1974. Localization of carnitine palmitoyltransferases on inner membranes of mitochondria, and their possible role in the regulation of fatty acyl group translocation. In Regulation of Hepatic Metabolism, ed. F. Lundquist, N. Tygstrup, 6:482-500. NY: Academic
- Fukami, M. H., Williamson, J. R. 1971.
 On the mechanism of inhibition of fatty acid oxidation by 4-pentenoic acid in rat liver mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 246: 1206-12
- Garzya, G., Amico, R. M. 1980. Comparative study on the activity of racemic and laevorotatory carnitine in stable angina pectoris. *Int. J. Tiss. Reac.* 11:175–80
- Golan, R., Setchell, B. P., Burrow, P. V., Lewin, L. M. 1982. A comparative study of carnitine and acylcarnitine con-

- centration in semen and male reproductive tract fluids. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 72B:457-60
- Goldsmith, M. A., Suzuki, Y., Ohnuma, T., Holland, J. F. 1979. Failure of carnitine to prevent adriamycin cardiomyopathy. Cancer Treatment Rep. 63:558-60
- Guarnieri, G. F., Ranieri, F., Toigo, G., Vasile, A., Ciman, M., Rizzoli, V., Moracchiello, M., Companacci, L. 1980. Lipid-lowering effect of carnitine in chronically uremic patients treated with maintenance hemodialysis. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 33:1489-92
- Hahn, P. 1981. The development of carnitine synthesis from γ-butyrobetaine in the rat. *Life Sci*. 29:1057–60
- Hahn, P. 1981. Serum carnitine levels and hepatic and adipose tissue carnitine transferases in obese mice. *Nutr. Res.* 1:93-99
- Hahn, P. 1982. Carnitine in the perinatal period of mammals. Nutr. Res. 2: 201-6
- Hahn, P., Allardyce, D. B., Frohlich, J. 1982. Plasma carnitine levels during total parenteral nutrition of adult surgical patients. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 36:569-72
- Hahn, P., Seccombe, D. W., Towell, M. E. 1981. The perinatal role of carnitine. In *Physiological and Biochemical Basis for Perinatal Medicine*, ed. S. Z. Levine, pp. 187-98. Basel: Karger
 Hahn, P., Skala, J. 1972. Carnitine and
- 104. Hahn, P., Skala, J. 1972. Carnitine and brown adipose tissue metabolism in the rat during development. *Biochem. J.* 127:107-11
- 105. Hahn, P., Skala, J. P. 1975. The role of camitine in brown adipose tissue of suckling rats. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 51B: 507-15
- Hahn, P., Skala, J. P. 1981. The effect of starvation on obese mice. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 59:355-57
- 107. Hahn, P., Skala, J. P., Seccombe, D. W., Frohlich, J., Penn-Walker, D., Novak, M., Hynie, I., Towell, M. E. 1977. Carnitine content of blood and amniotic fluid. *Pediatr. Res.* 11:878-80
- 108. Haigler, H. T., Broquist, H. P. 1974. Carnitine synthesis in rat tissue slices. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 56: 676-81
- Harris, R. L., Frenkel, R. A., Cottam, G. L., Baxter, C. R. 1982. Lipid mobilization and metabolism after thermal trauma. J. Trauma 22:194-98
- Henderson, L. M., Nelson, P. J., Henderson, L. 1982. Mammalian enzymes of trimethyllysine conversion to trimethylaminobutyrate. Fed. Proc. 41:2843

 47

- Hinshaw, W. B. Jr., Glenn, J. L., Hatch, K. M. 1980. Serum carnitine in Reye's Syndrome. N. Engl. J. Med. 302:1423
- 112. Hinton, B. T., Snoswell, A. M., Setchell, B. P. 1979. The concentration of carnitine in the luminal fluid of the testis and epididymis of the rat and some other mammals. J. Reprod. Fertil. 56:105–11
- Hoppel, C. L. 1976. Carnitine palmitoyltransferase and transport of fatty acids. In The Enzymes of Biological Membranes, ed. A. Martonosi, 2:119-43. NY: Plenum
- Hoppel, C. L. 1982. Carnitine and carnitine palmitoyltransferase in fatty acid oxidation and ketosis. Fed. Proc. 41: 2853-57
- 115. Horne, D. W., Broquist, H. P. 1973. Role of lysine and ∈-N-trimethyllysine in carnitine biosynthesis. I. Studies in Neurospora crassa. J. Biol. Chem. 248: 2170–75
- Hughes, R. E., Hurley, R. J., Jones, E. 1980. Dietary ascorbic acid and muscle carnitine (β-OH-γ-(trimethylamino) butyric acid) in guinea pigs. Br. J. Nutr. 43:385–87
- Hulse, J. D., Ellis, S. R., Henderson, L. M. 1978. Carnitine biosynthesis (β-hydroxylation of trimethyllysine by an α-ketoglutarate-dependent mitochondrial dioxygenase). J. Biol. Chem. 253: 1654–59
- Huth, P. J., Schmidt, M. J., Hall, P. V., Fariello, R. G., Shug, A. L. 1981. The uptake of carnitine by slices of rat cerebral cortex. J. Neurochem. 36:715-23
- Huth, P. J., Shug, A. L. 1980. Properties of carnitine transport in rat kidney cortex slices. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 602: 621–34
- Huth, P. J., Thomsen, J. H., Shug, A. L. 1978. Carnitine transport by rat kidney cortex slices: stimulation by dibutyryl cyclic AMP⁺. Life Sci. 23:715–22
- 121. Ide, T., Ontko, J. A. 1981. Increased secretion of very low density lipoprotein triglyceride following inhibition of long chain fatty acid oxidation in isolated rat liver. J. Biol. Chem. 256:10247-55
- Idell-Wenger, J. A. 1981. Carnitine: acylcarnitine translocase of rat heart mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 256:5597– 5603
- Idell-Wenger, J. A., Grotyohann, L. W., Neely, J. R. 1978. Coenzyme A and carnitine distribution in normal and ischemic hearts. J. Biol. Chem. 253:4310-18
- James, M. J., Brooks, D. E., Snoswell, A. M. 1981. Kinetics of carnitine uptake by rat epididymal cells. *FEBS Lett.* 126: 53-56

- Johansen, L., Bohmer, T. 1979. Uptake of ³H-L-carnitine by isolated rat epididymal tubules. Arch. Androl. 2:117-21
- Jones, E., Hughes, R. E. 1982. Influence of oral carnitine on the body weight and survival time of avitaminotic-C guinea pigs. Nutr. Rep. Int. 25:201-4
- Kahonen, M. T. 1979. Clofibrateinduced increase in carnitine and acylcarnitine content in rats. *Biochem. Pharma*col. 28:3674-77
- Kerner, J., Sandor, A., Alkonyi, I. 1976.
 The effect of denervation on carnitine metabolism in rat skeletal muscle. Acta Biochim. Biophys. Acad. Sci. Hung. 11:239-43
- Khairallah, E. A., Wolf, G. 1967. Carnitine decarboxylase. The conversion of carnitine to β-methylcholine. J. Biol. Chem. 242:32–39
- Khan, L., Bamji, M. S. 1977. Plasma carnitine levels in children with proteincalorie malnutrition before and after rehabilitation. Clin. Chim. Acta 75:163-66
- 131. Khan, L., Bamji, M. S. 1979. Tissue carnitine deficiency due to dietary lysine deficiency: triglyceride accumulation and concomitant impairment in fatty acid oxidation. J. Nutr. 109:24-31
- 132. Kjernes, U., Molstad, P. 1981. The effect of sulfhydryl blocking agents on the uptake of L-carnitine in an established human cell line (CCL27). Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. 41:209–13
- Kobayashi, T., Shinnoh, N., Mawatari, S. 1979. Carnitine in duchenne muscular dystrophy. Clin. Chim. Acta 93:157-59
- Konig, B., McKaigney, E., Conteh, S., Ross, B. 1978. Effect of a lipid load on blood and urinary carnitine in man. Clin. Chim. Acta 88:121-25
- Kosolcharoen, P., Nappi, J., Peduzzi, P., Shug, A., Patel, A., Filipek, T., Thomsen, J. H. 1981. Improved exercise tolerance after administration of carnitine. Curr. Ther. Res. 30:753-64
- Kotaka, K., Miyazaki, Y., Ogawa, K., Satake, T., Sugiyama, S., Ozawa, T. 1982. Reversal of ischemia-induced mitochondrial dysfunction after coronary reperfusion. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 14: 223-31
- LaBadie, J., Dunn, W. A., Aronson, N. N. Jr. 1967. Hepatic synthesis of carnitine from protein bound TML. *Biochem.* J. 160:85-95
- 138. Lacour, B., Chanard, J., Haguet, M., Basile, C., Assan, R., DiGiulio, S., Ciancioni, C., Lebkiri, B., Drüeke, T., Funck-Brentano, J. L. 1980. Carnitine improves lipid anomalies in haemodialysis patients. *Lancet* 1:763–65

- 139. Lewin, L. M., Beer, R., Lunenfeld, B. 1976. Epididymis and seminal vesicle as sources of carnitine in human seminal fluid: the clinical significance of the carnitine concentration in human seminal fluid. Fertil. Steril. 27:9-13
- Lewin, L. M., Peshin, A., Sklarz, B. 1975. A gas chromatographic assay for carnitine. *Anal. Biochym.* 68:531-36
- Liedtke, A. J., Vary, f. C., Nellis, S. H., Fultz, C. W. 1982. Properties of carnitine incorporation in working swine hearts. Effects of coronary flow, ischemia, and excess of fatty acids. Circ. Res. 50:767-74
- Lindstedt, G. 1967. Hydroxylation of γbutyrobetaine to carnitine in rat liver. Biochemistry 6:1271-82.
- Lindstedt, G., Lindstedt, S. 1970.
 Cofactor requirements of γ-buty-robetaine hydroxylase from rat liver. J. Biol. Chem. 245:4178-86
- 144. Lindstedt, G., Lindstedt, S., Tofft, M. 1970. γ-Butyrobetaine hydroxylase from Pseudomonas spAK1. Biochemistry 9: 4336-42
- 145. Maebashi, M., Kawamura, N., Sato, M., Imamura, A., Yoshinaga, K., Suzuki, M. 1977. Urinary excretion of carnitine in patients with hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism: augmentation by thyroid hormone. *Metabolism* 26:351–55
- 146. Maebashi, M., Kawamura, N., Sato, M., Imamura, A., Yoshinaga, K., Suzuki, M. 1977. Urinary excretion of carnitine and serum concentrations of carnitine and lipids in patients with hypofunctional endocrine diseases: involvement of adrenocorticoid and thyroid hormones in ACTH-induced augmentation of carnitine and lipids metabolism. Metabolism 26:357–61
- 147. Maebashi, M., Kawamura, N., Sato, M., Yoshinaga, K., Suzuki, M. 1976. Urinary excretion of carnitine in man. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 87:760-66
- Maebashi, M., Kawamura, N., Yoshinaga, K. 1974. Urinary excretion of carnitine in progressive muscular dystrophy. Nature 249:173-74
- 149. Maebashi, M., Sato, M., Kawamura, N., Imamura, A., Yoshinaga, K. 1978. Lipid-lowering effect of carnitine in patients with type-IV hyperlipoproteinaemia. Lancet 1:805-7
- Mannaerts, G. P., Thomas, J., Debeer, L. J., McGarry, J. D., Foster, D. W. 1978. Hepatic fatty acid oxidation and ketogenesis after clofibrate treatment. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 529:201-11
- Marley, J., Sherratt, H. S. A. 1973. The apparent failure of L-carnitine to prevent

- the hypoglycemia and hypothermia caused by hypoglycin or by pent-4-enoic acid in mice. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 22:281–84
- Marquis, N. R., Fritz, I. B. 1964. Enzymological determination of free camitine concentrations in rat tissues. *J. Lipid Res.* 5:184–87
- 153. Marquis, N. R., Fritz, I. B. 1965. Effects of testosterone on the distribution of carnitine, acetylcarnitine, and carnitine acetyltransferase in tissues of the reproductive system of the male rat. J. Biol. Chem. 240:2197-2200
- 154. May, M. E., Aftring, R. P., Buse, M. G. 1980. Mechanism of the stimulation of branched chain oxoacid oxidation in liver by carnitine. J. Biol. Chem. 225: 8394–97
- McGarry, J. D. 1979. New perspectives in the regulation of ketogenesis. *Diabetes* 28:517–23
- 156. McGarry, J. D., Foster, D. W. 1976. An improved and simplified radioisotopic assay for the determination of free and esterified carnitine. J. Lipid Res. 17: 277-81
- McGarry, J. D., Foster, D. W. 1980. Regulation of hepatic fatty acid oxidation and ketone body production. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 49:395-420
- McGarry, J. D., Robles-Valdes, C., Foster, D. W. 1975. Role of carnitine in hepatic ketogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 72:4385–88
- 159. Mikhail, M. M., Mansour, M. M. 1976. The relationship between serum carnitine levels and the nutritional status of patients with schistosomiasis. Clin. Chim. Acta 71:207-14
- Mingardi, G., Bizzi, A., Cini, M., Licini, R., Mecca, G., Garattini, S. 1980.
 Camitine balance in hemodialyzed patients. Clin. Nephrol. 13:269-70
- Mitchell, M. E. 1978. Carnitine metabolism in human subjects I. Normal metabolism. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 31:293–306
- Mitchell, M. E. 1978. Carnitine metabolism in human subjects II. Values of carnitine in biological fluids and tissues of "normal" subjects. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 31:481-91
- Mitchell, M. E. 1978. Carnitine metabolism in human subjects III. Metabolism in disease. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 31:645-59
- 164. Molstad, P., Bohmer, T. 1979. Transport of L-carnitine induced by prednisolone in an established cell line. A possible explanation of the therapeutic effect of glucocorticoids in muscular carnitine deficiency syndrome. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 585:94-99

- 165. Molstad, P., Bohmer, T. 1981. The effect of diphtheria toxin on the cellular uptake and efflux of L-carnitine. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 641:71-78
- 166. Molstad, P., Bohmer, T., Eiklid, K. 1977. Specificity and characteristics of carnitine transport in human heart cells (CCL27) in culture. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 471:296-304
- 167. Molstad, P., Bohmer, T., Hovig, T. 1978. Carnitine-induced uptake of Lcarnitine into cells from an established cell line from human heart (CCL27). Biochim. Biophys. Acta 512:557-65
- 168. Mooney, R. A., Lane, M. D. 1981. Formation and turnover of triglyceriderich vesicles in the chick liver cell. J. Biol. Chem. 256:11724-33
- Neely, J. R., Morgan, H. E. 1974. Relationship between carbohydrate and lipid metabolism and the energy balance of heart muscle. *Ann. Rev. Physiol.* 36: 413-59
- Nelson, P. J., Pruitt, R. E., Henderson, L. L., Jenness, R., Henderson, L. M. 1981. Effect of ascorbic acid deficiency on the in vivo synthesis of carnitine. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 672:123-27
- 171. Novak, M., Monkus, E. F., Buch, M., Silverio, J., Lesmes, H. 1981. The effects of L-carnitine supplementation of soy bean formula on plasma lipids. Clin. Res. 29:877 (Abstr.)
- Novak, M., Monkus, E. F., Chung, D., Buch, M. 1981. Carnitine in the perinatal metabolism of lipids. I. Relationship between maternal and fetal plasma levels of carnitine and acylcarnitines. *Pediatrics* 67:95-100
- 173. Novak, M., Wieser, P. B., Buch, M., Hahn, P. 1979. Acetylcarnitine and free carnitine in body fluids before and after birth. *Pediatr. Res.* 13:10-15
- Opie, L. H. 1975. Metabolism of free fatty acids, glucose, and catecholamines in acute myocardial infarction. Am. J. Cardiol. 36:938-53
- 175. Opie, L. H. 1979. Role of carnitine in fatty acid metabolism of normal and ischemic myocardium. Am. Heart J. 97:375-88
- Pace, J. A., Wannemacher, R. W. Jr., Neufeld, H. A. 1978. Improved radiochemical assay for carnitine and its derivatives in plasma and tissue extracts. Clin. Chem. 24:32-35
- Pande, S. V., Parvin, R. 1976. Characterization of carnitine acylcarnitine translocase system of heart mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 251:6683-91
- Biol. Chem. 251:6683-91
 178. Pande, S. V., Parvin, R. 1980. Carnitine—Acylcarnitine translocase cata-

- lyzes an equilibrating unidirectional transport as well. *J. Biol. Chem.* 255: 2994–3001
- 179. Pande, S. V., Parvin, R. 1980. Clofibrate enhancement of mitochondrial carnitine transport system of rat liver and augmentation of liver carnitine and γ-butyrobetaine hydroxylase activity by thyroxine. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 617: 363-70
- Parvin, R., Gianoulakis, C., Pande, S. V., Chretien, M. 1981. Effect of pituitary tumor MtT-F4 on carnitine levels in the serum, liver and hearts of rats. *Life* Sci. 10:1047-49
- Parvin, R., Pande, S. V. 1977. Microdetermination of (-) carnitine and carnitine acetyltransferase activity. *Anal. Biochem.* 79:190-201
- Paulson, D. J., Shug, A. L. 1981. Tissue specific depletion of L-carnitine in rat heart and skeletal muscle by D-carnitine. *Life Sci.* 28:2931–38
- Penn, D., Schmidt-Sommerfeld, E., Pascu, F. 1981. Decreased tissue carnitine concentrations in newborn infants receiving total parenteral nutrition. J. Pediatr. 98:976-78
- 184. Penn, D., Schmidt-Sommerfeld, E., Wolf, H. 1980. Carnitine deficiency in premature infants receiving total parenteral nutrition. Early Hum. Devel. 4:23-34
- 185. Pilkis, S. J., Park, C. R., Claus, T. H. 1978. Hormonal control of hepatic gluconeogenesis. In Vitamins and Hormones, ed. P. L. Munson, E. Diezfalusy, J. Glover, R. E. Olson, 36:383-460. NY: Academic
- Pola, P., Savi, L., Grilli, M., Flore, R., Serricchio, M. 1980. Carnitine in the therapy of dyslipidemic patients. Cur. Ther. Res. 27:208-15
- Ramsay, R. R., Tubbs, P. K. 1975. The mechanism of fatty acid uptake by heart mitochondria: an acylcarnitine-carnitine exchange. FEBS Lett. 54:21-25
- 188. Rebouche, C. J. 1977. Carnitine movement across muscle cell membranes. Studies in isolated rat muscle. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 471:145-55
- 189. Rebouche, C. J. 1980. Comparative aspects of carnitine biosynthesis in microorganisms and mammals with attention to carnitine biosynthesis in man. See Ref. 28, pp. 57-72
- Rebouche, C. J. 1982. Sites and regulation of carnitine biosynthesis in mammals. Fed. Proc. 41:2848-52
- 191. Rebouché, C. J., Broquist, H. P. 1976. Carnitine biosynthesis in *Neurospora* crassa: enzymatic conversion of lysine to

- **ε-N-trimethyllysine**. *J. Bacteriol*. 126: 1207–14
- Rebouche, C. J., Engel, A. G. 1980.
 Significance of renal γ-butyrobetaine hydroxylase for carnitine biosynthesis in man. J. Biol. Chem. 255:8700-05
- 193. Rebouche, C. J., Engel, A. G. 1980. Tissue distribution of carnitine biosynthetic enzymes in man. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 630:22-29
- 194. Robles-Valdes, C., McGarry, J. D., Foster, D. W. 1976. Maternal-fetal carnitine relationships and neonatal ketosis in the rat. J. Biol. Chem. 251:6007-12
- Rossi, C. S., Siliprandi, N. 1982. Effect of carnitine on serum HDL-cholesterol: report of 2 cases. *Johns Hopkins Med. J.* 150:51-54
- Rudman, D., Sewell, C. W., Ansley, J. D. 1977. Deficiency of carnitine in cachectic cirrhotic patients. J. Clin. Invest. 60:716-23
- Sandor, A., Pecsuvac, K., Kerner, J., Alkonyi, I. 1982. On carnitine content of the human breast milk. *Pediatr. Res.* 16:89-91
- 198. Schiff, D., Chan, G., Seccombe, D., Hahn, P. 1979. Plasma carnitine levels during intravenous feeding of the neonate. J. Pediatr. 95:1043-46
- Schmidt-Sommerfeld, E., Penn, D., Wolf, H. 1982. Carnitine blood concentrations and fat utilization in parenterally alimented premature newborn infants. J. Pediatr. 100:260-64
- Scholte, H. R., Busch, H. F. M., Luyt-Houwen, I. E. M., Stinis, J. T., Jennekens, F. G. I., Mortier, W. 1980. Muscle carnitine in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. In Muscular Dystrophy Research Advances and New Trends, ed. C. Angelini, G. A. Danieli, D. Fontanari, pp. 303-04. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica
- Scholte, H. R., Stinis, J. T., Jennekens, F. G. I. 1978. Low carnitine levels in serum of pregnant women. N. Engl. J. Med. 299:1079-80
- Seim, H., Loster, H., Strack, E. 1980. Carnitine catabolism: products of carnitine decarboxylase and carnitine dehydrogenase in vivo. Hoppe Seylers Z. Physiol. Chem. 361:1427-35
- Shaw, R. D., Shug, A. L., Olsen, W. A. 1982. Studies of carnitine transport by rat small intestine. Am. Gastroenterol. Assoc. Prog., p. A-58 (Abstr.)
 Shug, A. L., Shrago, E. 1973. A pro-
- Shug, A. L., Shrago, E. 1973. A proposed mechanism for fatty acid effects on energy metabolism of the heart. *J. Lab. Clin. Med.* 81:214–18
- Slonim, A. E., Borum, P. R., Tanaka,
 K., Stanley, C. A., Kasselberg, A. G.,

- Greene, H. L., Burr, I. M. 1981. Dietary dependent carnitine deficiency as a cause of nonketotic hypoglycemia in an infant. *J. Pediatr.* 99:551–56
- Snoswell, A. M., Linzell, J. L. 1975.
 Camitine secretion into milk of ruminants. J. Dairy Res. 42:371–80
- Snoswell, A. M., McIntosh, G. H. 1974. The liver as the site of carnitine biosynthesis in sheep with alloxaninduced diabetes. Aust. J. Biol. Sci. 27:645-50
- Solberg, H. E., Bremer, J. 1970. Formation of branched chain acylcarnitines in mitochondria. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 222:372–80
- Stearns, S. B. 1980. Carnitine content of skeletal muscle from diabetic and insulintreated diabetic rats. *Biochem. Med.* 24: 33-38
- Strohm, H. G. II., Payne, C. M., Alberts, D. S., Peng, Y. M., Moon, T. E., Bahl, J. J., Bressler, R. 1982. Cardiotoxic effects of doxorubicin with and without carnitine. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. 106:181-85
- Sugiyama, S., Miyazaki, Y., Kotaka, K., Kato, T., Suzuki, S., Ozawa, T. 1982. Mechanism of free fatty acidinduced arrhythmias. J. Electrocardiol. 15:227-32
- Sugiyama, S., Miyazaki, Y., Kotaka, K., Ozawa, T. 1982. On the mechanism of ischemia-induced mitochondrial dysfunction. *Jpn. Circ. J.* 46: 296–302
- Suzuki, M., Kanaya, M., Muramatsu, S., Takahashi, T. 1976. Effects of carnitine administration, fasting, and exercise on urinary carnitine excretion in man. J. Nutr. Sci. Vitaminol. 22:169-74
- Suzuki, Y., Kamikawa, T., Yamazaki, N. 1981. Effects of L-carnitine on ventricular arrhythmias in dogs with acute myocardial ischemia and a supplement of excess free fatty acids. *Jpn. Circ. J.* 45: 552-59
- Suzuki, Y., Narita, M., Yamazaki, N. 1982. Effects of L-carnitine on arrhythmias during hemodialysis. *Jpn. Heart J.* 23:349-59
- Tanphaichitr, N. 1977. In vitro stimulation of human sperm motility by acetylcamitine. *Int. J. Fertil.* 22:83–91
- Tanphaichitr, V., Broquist, H. P. 1973.
 Role of lysine and ε-N-trimethyllysine in carnitine biosynthesis. II. Studies in the rat. J. Biol. Chem. 248:2176–81
- Tanphaichitr, V., Broquist, H. P. 1973.
 Lysine deficiency in the rat: concomitant impairment in carnitine biosynthesis. J. Nutr. 103:80-87

- Tanphaichitr, V., Broquist, H. P. 1974.
 Site of carnitine biosynthesis in the rat. J. Nutr. 104:1669-73
- Tanphaichitr, V., Lerdvuthisopon, N., Dhanamitta, S., Broquist, H. P. 1980. Carnitine status in Thai adults. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 33:876-80
- Tanphaichitr, V., Zaklama, M. S., Broquist, H. P. 1976. Dietary lysine and camitine: relation to growth and fatty livers in rats. J. Nutr. 106:111-17
- Theirriault, D. G., Mehlman, M. A. 1965. Metabolism of carnitine in coldacclimated rats. Can. J. Biochem. 43: 1437-43
- Thomsen, J. H., Shug, A. L., Yap, V. U., Patel, A. K., Karras, T. J., DeFelice, S. L. 1979. Improved pacing tolerance of the ischemic human myocardium after administration of carnitine. Am. J. Cardiol. 43:300-6
- Van Alstyne, E. L., Sladek, C. D., Smith, D. C. 1977. The effect of thermal injury on plasma carnitine in rats. Experientia 33:863-64
- perientia 33:863-64
 225. Van Hinsbergh, V. W. M., Veerkamp, J. H., Cordewener, J. H. G. 1980. Effect of carnitine and branched-chain acylcarnitines on the 2-oxo acid dehydrogenase activity in intact mitochondria of rat muscle. Int. J. Biochem. 12:559-65
- Van Hinsbergh, V. W. M., Veerkamp, J. H., Zuurveld, J. G. E. M. 1978. Role of carnitine in leucine oxidation by mitochondria of rat muscle. FEBS Lett. 92:100-4
- Vary, T. C., Neely, J. R. 1982. A mechanism for reduced myocardial carnitine levels in diabetic animals. Am J. Physiol. 243:H154–58
- Vary, T. C., Reibel, D. K., Neely, J. L. 1981. Control of energy metabolism of heart muscle. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 453: 419-30
- Warshaw, J. B. 1979. Fatty acid metabolism during development. Sem. Perinatol. 3:131-39
- Warshaw, J. B., Curry, E. 1980. Comparison of serum carnitine and ketone body concentrations in breast and in formula-fed newborn infants. J. Pediatr. 97:122-25
- Warshaw, J. B., Terry, M. L. 1976. Cellular energy metabolism during fetal development. VI. Fatty acid oxidation by developing brain. *Devel. Biol.* 52: 161-66
- Warshaw, J. B., Maniscalco, W. M. 1978. Perinatal adaptations in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. In Stern's

- Intensive Care in the Newborn 2:251-60, NY: Masson.
- Weidemann, M. J., Krebs, H. A. 1969.
 Acceleration of gluconeogenesis from propionate by DL-carnitine in the rat kidney cortex. *Biochem. J.* 111:69–81
- Williams, E. S., Luft, F. C. 1978. The effect of chronic uremia on fatty acid metabolism in the heart. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 92:548-55
- 235. Williamson, J. R., Browning, E. T., Olson, M. S. 1968. Interrelations between fatty acid oxidation and the control of gluconeogenesis in perfused rat liver. Adv. Enzyme Regul. 6:67-100
- 236. Williamson, J. R., Browning, E. T., Scholz, R., Kreisberg, R. A., Fritz, I. B. 1968. Inhibition of fatty acid stimulation of gluconeogenesis by (+)-decanoylcamitine in perfused rat liver. *Di-abetes* 17:194–208
- Williamson, J. R., Rostand, S. G., Peterson, M. J. 1970. Control factors affecting gluconeogenesis in perfused rat liver. J. Biol. Chem. 245:3242-51
- Willner, J. H., Chutorian, A. M., Di-Mauro, S. 1978. Tissue carnitine in Reye's syndrome. Ann. Neurol. 4:468– 69
- Willner, J. H., Ginsburg, S., DiMauro, S. 1978. Active transport of carnitine into skeletal muscle. *Neurology* 28:721–24
- Wetterauer, U., Heite, H. J. 1980. Carnitine in seminal plasma: its significance in diagnostic andrology. Arch. Androl. 4:137-43
- Wittels, B., Bressler, R. 1964. Biochemical lesion of diphtheria toxin in the heart. J. Clin. Invest. 43:630–37
- Wolf, G., ed. 1965. Recent Research on Carnitine—Its Relation to Lipid Metabolism. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. 210 pp.
- 243. Yeh, Y. Y., Zee, P. 1979. Fatty acid oxidation in isolated rat liver mitochondria. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 199: 560-69
- 244. York, C. M., Cantrell, C. R., Borum, P. R. 1983. Cardiac carnitine deficiency and altered carnitine transport in cardiomyopathic hamsters. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. In press
- Yue, K. T. N., Fritz, I. B. 1962. Fate of tritium-labeled carnitine administered to dogs and rats. AmJ. Physiol. 202:122–28
- Zaspel, B. J., Sheridan, K. J., Henderson, L. M. 1980. Transport and metabolism of carnitine precursors in various organs in the rat. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 631:192–202